ALASKA STATE LEQ SLATURE
HOUSE STATE AFFAI RS STANDI NG COWM TTEE
March 18, 2004
8:03 a. m

VEMBERS PRESENT

Representative Bruce Weyhrauch, Chair
Representative JimHolm Vice Chair
Representati ve John Coghil |
Representative Bob Lynn

Represent ati ve Paul Seaton
Representative Ethan Berkow tz
Representati ve Max Gruenberg

VEVMBERS ABSENT
Al l nmenbers present
COW TTEE CALENDAR

HOUSE BI LL NO. 431
"An Act relating to the nmunicipal dividend program and
providing for an effective date."

- MOVED CSHB 431(STA) OUT OF COWM TTEE

HOUSE BI LL NO. 459
"An Act requiring an auditable paper trail for electronic voting
machi nes; and providing for an effective date.”

- HEARD AND HELD

HOUSE BI LL NO. 439

"An Act relating to the authority to take oaths, affirmations,
and acknow edgnents in the state; relating to notaries public;
relating to fees for issuing certificates with the seal of the
state affixed; and providing for an effective date."

- SCHEDULED BUT NOT HEARD
PREVI QUS COW TTEE ACTI ON
BILL: HB 431

SHORT TITLE: MUNI Cl PAL DI VI DEND PROGRAM
SPONSOR(S): REPRESENTATI VE(S) MOSES

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -1- March 18, 2004



02/ 04/ 04 (H READ THE FI RST Tl ME - REFERRALS
02/ 04/ 04 (H) CRA, STA, FIN

02/ 26/ 04 (H) CRA RPT 3DP 2NR

02/ 26/ 04 (H) DP: KOTT, ClISSNA, MORGAN
02/ 26/ 04 (H) NR: SAMUELS, WOLF

02/ 26/ 04 (H CRA AT 8:00 AM CAPI TOL 124
02/ 26/ 04 (H Moved Qut of Commttee

02/ 26/ 04 (H) M NUTE( CRA)

03/ 09/ 04 (H) STA AT 8: 00 AM CAPI TOL 102
03/ 09/ 04 (H) Heard & Hel d

03/ 09/ 04 (H) M NUTE( STA)

03/ 18/ 04 (H STA AT 8:00 AM CAPI TOL 102
BILL: HB 459

SHORT TI TLE. PAPER TRAI L FOR ELECTRONI C VOTI NG MACHI NE
SPONSOR( S): REPRESENTATI VE(S) GARA

02/ 16/ 04 (H READ THE FIRST TIME - REFERRALS
02/ 16/ 04 (H STA

03/ 09/ 04 (H STA AT 8:00 AM CAPI TOL 102

03/ 09/ 04 (H Heard & Hel d

03/ 09/ 04 (H M NUTE( STA)

03/ 18/ 04 (H STA AT 8:00 AM CAPI TOL 102

W TNESS REG STER

ADAM BERG, St aff

to Representative Carl Moses

Al aska State Legislature

Juneau, Al aska

POSI TI ON  STATEMENT: Answered questions and discussed the
sectional for HB 431, on behalf of Representative Mbses,
sponsor.

JI M COOPER, Mayor

for the City of Pal ner

Presi dent, Al aska Muni ci pal League

Pal mer, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in support of HB 431.

KEVIN RI TCH E, Executive Director

Al aska Muni ci pal League and Al aska Conference of Mayors

Juneau, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT:  Answered questions during the hearing on HB
431.

JACK SHAY, Menber

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 2- March 18, 2004



Al aska Muni ci pal League (AM.) board of directors

Ket chi kan, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified on behalf of AML in support of HB
431.

WALTER HI CKEL

Anchor age, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Rel ated his past involvenent in regard to
the i ssues surroundi ng HB 431.

BOB BARTHOLOVEW Chief Operating Oficer

Al aska Per manent Fund Cor poration

Depart ment of Revenue

Juneau, Al aska

POSI TI ON  STATEMENT: Answered questions on behalf of the
corporation during the hearing on HB 431.

Bl LL ROLFZEN

State Revenue Sharing, Minicipal Assistance, National Forest
Recei pts, Fish Tax, PILT

Juneau O fice

Division O Comunity Advocacy

Department of Community & Econom c Devel opnent ( DCED)

Juneau, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT:  Answer ed questions on behalf of DCED during
t he hearing on HB 431.

REPRESENTATI VE CARL MOSES

Al aska State Legislature

Juneau, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT:  Encouraged the commttee to pass HB 431.

REPRESENTATI VE LES GARA

Al aska State Legislature

Juneau, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: As sponsor of HB 459, discussed the purpose
of the bill

W LLI AM COLE, M D.

Juneau, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified on behalf of hinself in support
of the basic aspects of HB 459.

MARI LYN RUSSELL

Fai r banks, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified on behalf of herself to discuss
Al aska's voting system during the hearing on HB 459.

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 3- March 18, 2004



SANDRA ZI RNHELD

Fai r banks, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified on behalf of herself to cite five
exanples of recent nmalfunctions in voting nachine software,
during the hearing on HB 459.

LUKE HOPKI NS

Fai r banks, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified on behalf of hinself in support
of HB 459.

DORI S PFALMER

Fai r banks, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified on behalf of herself in support
of HB 459.

JENNI FER RUDI NGER, Executive Director

Al aska Civil Liberties Union (AkCLU)

Anchor age, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified that AKCLU cautiously endorses HB
459,

JOHN DUNKER

Juneau, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified on behalf of hinself in support
of HB 459 and nandatory testing and random recounts.

ACTI ON NARRATI VE

TAPE 04-38, SIDE A
Number 0001

CHAI R BRUCE WEYHRAUCH called the House State Affairs Standing
Comm ttee neeting to order at 8:03 a.m Representati ves Hol m
Seaton, Coghill, Lynn, and Weyhrauch were present at the call to
order. Representatives Berkowitz and Guenberg arrived as the
nmeeting was in progress.

HB 431- MUNI Cl PAL DI VI DEND PROGRAM

Number 0100
CHAI R WEYHRAUCH announced that the first order of business was

HOUSE BILL NO 431, "An Act relating to the nunicipal dividend
program and providing for an effective date.™

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -4- March 18, 2004



Number 0130

ADAM BERG, Staff to Representative Carl Mses, Alaska State
Legislature, testifying on behalf of Representative Moses,
sponsor, offered the commttee a brief sectional analysis on the
bill. Section 1, he said, establishes the nunicipal dividend,
it sets the anobunt given to each nunicipality at $250 per
per son.

Nunber 0162

REPRESENTATI VE SEATON, in response to a request from Chair
Weyhrauch, noved to adopt HB 431 for discussion purposes.

Number 0179
CHAI R WEYHRAUCH obj ected "for discussion purposes.”

MR BERG said that [the bill] would give the borough "the
dividend," based on the total population of the borough, m nus
the population of all the incorporated cities wthin the
bor ough. He explained that it gives the boroughs the chance to
apply sonme of their funding to their unincorporated conmunities.
In response to a question from Chair Wyhrauch, he confirnmed
that [HB 431] is a scaled-dowmn "resurrection" of a bill
introduced fornerly in the |egislature. He explained that [HB
431, as opposed to the fornmerly proposed |egislation] does not
give any direction to the nmunicipalities regarding how to spend
t he noney.

CHAI R VEYHRAUCH said one of the questions people always seemto
have regarding [changes to] the permanent fund is how it wll
affect their individual permanent fund dividend (PFD). He asked
if the sponsor mght have discussed how the bill mght effect
t he PFD.

MR. BERG answered yes. He pointed to [a page entitled "Analysis
of current statutory payout versus HB 431," by the Al aska
Per manent Fund Corporation], which is included in the commttee
packet . He noted that the bottom two |ines show the difference
in the PFD with and wi t hout HB 431.

Number 0293

CHAI R WEYHRAUCH asked how the bill would affect the inflation-
proofing of the permanent fund.

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 5- March 18, 2004



MR. BERG said it does not affect [it]. He turned to Section 2
of the bill, which he explained [ensures] that the transfer of
noney from the earnings reserve account happens only after PFDs
and inflation-proofing have been "taken care of."

CHAI R WEYHRAUCH asked how [HB 431] would affect the growth of
the corpus of the permanent fund.

MR. BERG turned again to the handout and pointed out that the
two lines above the bottom two lines show "the difference and
how it affects the total value of the permanent fund." He noted
t he amounts on those lines of $45,644 and $48, 165.

Number 0416

REPRESENTATI VE HOLM asked if the sponsor has given any thought
to the fact that the population is going to grow.

MR. BERG indicated that some consideration had been given to
that issue; however, he stated that the main intent of the bil
is to attenpt to help municipalities.

REPRESENTATI VE HOLM noted that since the first PFD in 1982, the
state of Alaska has grown by 200,000 people. He asked what
woul d happen to "this programi when the population grows by
anot her 200, 000 people in the next 20 years.

MR. BERG replied that the anpbunts can be changed by statute.
Furthernore, if the nunicipal dividend fund grew to the point
that it was "getting huge," Section 2 [ensures] that the anpunt
that can be transferred can never be nore than the bal ance of
the earnings reserve account after dividends and inflation-
proofing have taken pl ace.

Nunmber 0512

REPRESENTATI VE HOLM opi ned that population growth isn't factored
in well, which doesn't give a fair analysis of what will truly
happen. He said, "I know it's all theoretical anyway, but it
gives us a little better idea of what the true picture is." He

guestioned whether the huge growh pattern over the last 20
years has been based upon the fact that [the state] provides
"these services" or upon the fact that "we have the right reason
for people to nove to Al aska."

MR. BERG responded, "Actually, ... the people know it's com ng
from the permanent fund." He noted that "they" do estinate an

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 6- March 18, 2004



annual muni ci pal popul ation growh of approximately 1.15
per cent. He said the fiscal note does reflect the population
gr owt h.

REPRESENTATI VE HOLM stated that he realizes what the nunber is,
but he suggests that that nunber is "not even close to being
reality.” He said, "If you go back the last 20 years, 1.15
percent doesn't get us there.”

Nunmber 0618
REPRESENTATI VE SEATON sai d:

As | look at this ... your projections are that ... in

fiscal year 2015, the permanent fund itself would
be $2.52 billion less with this program and that if
the ... personal dividends were still calculated the
sanme, there'd be basically a $250 per person dividend
given to the communities and $90 of that would cone
out of each person's personal dividend. Is that the
way | interpret this?

MR. BERG answered yes; the estimated effect on people's dividend
woul d be $90 [|ess]. In response to a followup question from
Representative Seaton, he confirnmed, "Qur nunbers aren't based
on performance of the fund, except for in the event [that] the
fund wasn't paying dividends - obviously there would be no
muni ci pal divi dends going out either.”

Nunmber 0868

REPRESENTATI VE SEATON turned to the last page of the five-page
handout entitled "HB 431 Mnici pal Dividend Estinates,”
[included in the commttee packet], which shows a yearly
muni ci pal dividend [paynent] of $157,195, 000. He also turned
attention to a graph [entitled "Funding Hi story for State

Revenue Sharing and Safe Communities Program" included in the
commttee packet]. He said, "I"'mjust wanting to nake sure that
that's what the proposal is, is to have the ... revenue sharing

in safe communities - not only [to] reinstate sone of that, but
[to] expand it by three times what it's been in the last eight

years." He referred to the back page of the previously
menti oned handout with the chart on it and noted that it shows a
total for 1998 of $50 million [conprised of] "revenue sharing"

and "safe communities."

MR. BERG sai d he doesn't have that copy.

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -7- March 18, 2004



CHAI R WVEYHRAUCH sai d copi es woul d be nmade avail abl e.
Number 0918

JIM COOPER, Mayor for the City of Palner; President, Alaska
Muni ci pal League, testified in support of HB 431. He stated
that without this type of Ilegislation, comunities wll be
facing serious consequences. He said HB 431 woul d provide noney
where it is actually needed at the local |evel where it can be
used to the best advantage of the people, while bypassing the
red tape associated with the nonies typically received as grants
fromthe state or the federal governnent.

MR. COOPER told the commttee that "we" perfornmed a survey in
February, which was based on 73 communities. At that point, he
said, nore than half of the comunities said that they didn't
have the financial resources to provide the mninum basic
public services. Three of the four comunities reported facing
econom ¢ downturn, which M. Cooper said is obviously nmade nore
difficult due to the elimnation of state revenue-sharing
paynents. He stated his belief that in the md 80s the revenue
sharing safe communities [total] was $136 nillion, which then
declined to $50 million, and now is rising to $157 nmillion. He
said, "So, we're basically in the ball park if we had continued
to raise the nonies fromthe 1986 tine frane."

MR. COOPER revealed that five of the six communities said that
they anticipate significant revenue shortfall this year, while
two of the nunicipalities wll be nmaking cuts in public
servi ces. Half [of the nunicipalities] report that they have
already laid off workers, while two out of three report that
they need to raise fees, such as the rates for water and sewage,
harbor fees, and land fills, to counteract the |oss of noney.
He posited that it's obvious that [the proposed legislation] is
a necessary step because doing nothing could result in a strong
potential that 30 comrunities will be phased out this next year,
whi ch woul d have a compoundi ng effect on other comrunities.

MR. COOPER noted, "Approximately one in three jobs in the urban
areas depend on providing goods, services, and transportation in

the rural comunities.” If the smaller comunities close, then
the onus will fall to the larger communities to provide services
to all the people who will have noved to the |larger comunities.
He stated, "I think we have to renenber that the nunicipa

government is the best deal in the state; we're the ones that
provide, typically, a lot of the essential services which are:

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 8- March 18, 2004



revenue collection, grants admnistration, ... elections,

road maintenance, [and] property Iliability insurance.” He
concluded, "I think that we need to |ook at what we want to do
and what we're trying to do for our conmmunities, and this is
definitely a step in the right direction.”

Nunber 1111

CHAI R WEYHRAUCH asked M. Cooper to clarify what "closure of
comruni ti es" neans.

MR. COOPER explained that communities w thout revenue sharing

will not have nonies with which to be able to function and w |
literally "turn the key, turn off the lights, shut off the
wat er, and wal k away." He said the revenue sharing of |ast year

ranged from 4 percent of sonme of the comrunities' budgets up to
90- pl us percent.

Number 1150

REPRESENTATI VE SEATON turned to a handout [showing the revenue
sharing totals of Alaska nunicipalities for fiscal year 2003].
He noted that the total for Anchorage was [$10, 403, 815]. He
then turned back to the previously cited ["HB 431 Munici pal
Dividend Estimtes"] page and pointed to where it shows that
Anchorage would receive $67, 267, 500. He noted other exanples.
He asked, "Is that your estimate of how this would go, as well?"

MR. BERG surmsed that he is "speaking in general to the
program per se."” He said he is not certain he agrees with the
figures. He said he thinks the Al aska Minici pal League has said
that it would like to have revenue sharing and safe conmunities
at a level not to go bel ow "what we had three years ago."

Nunber 1230

CHAI R VEYHRAUCH sai d he has a question about one of the terns in
the bill. He stated, "It says the anmount transferred to the
fund shall be distributed to the departnment as dividends to the
municipalities.” He asked how nunicipalities would be defined.
Nunber 1258

KEVIN RITCH E, Executive Director, Al aska Muinicipal League and
Al aska Conference of Mayors, defined a nunicipality as "any
muni ci pal political subdivision, be it a city, a borough, a
unified nmunicipality.”

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 9- March 18, 2004



CHAI R VEYHRAUCH asked if ElIfin Cove, as a conmunity association
[woul d be a rnunicipality].

MR. RITCH E answered that unless it is specifically chartered as
a nmunicipality under state law, it would not be consi dered one.

MR R TCHE confirmed that revenue sharing is proposed for

elimnation in "this budget,"” and there are a nunber of small
comunities around the state that will not be able to provide
services wthout sone base of revenue sharing. He echoed M.

Cooper's estimation that nunicipalities really are a good deal.
He said a municipality can exist with a municipal budget of
$150, 000 to $300,000 - a small amount of noney. Beyond that, he
st at ed, even though there is |imted tax authority in
comunities, the ability was created to provide services, apply
for and adm nister grants, and adm nister utility systens, for
exanpl e. He explained that there really is no other noney for
provi di ng the base services.

CHAI R WEYHRAUCH observed that so far, the testinony has shown
t hat this [proposed |egislation] is critical to snal
comunities. He turned to larger comunities, such as Anchorage
and Fairbanks, and he asked how much revenue sharing those two
| arge municipalities receive and what they would receive under
[ HB 431] .

Nunber 1349

MR RITCH E said he thinks that the |ast revenue sharing nunber
was about $30 million. He added, "And also, municipal capita
matching grants were also proposed for elimnation - so about
$45 mllion." He said, "This is |looking at about $150 mllion
so approximately three tines the anmount of noney." In terns of

what that neans to a large conmmunity, he said huge things are
happeni ng every day, for exanple, the issues surrounding the

retirement for public enployees and teachers. He continued as
fol |l ows:
It's not entirely -- | nmean | couldn't say that this

is a direct offset to local taxes and |ocal taxes
would go down, because there [are] so nany things
happening in the world; but, in fact, this would
create the kind of stabilization ... of taxation that
wi || really benefit comunities. And in sone
comunities they nmay decide to |lower taxes and, in
fact, in all reality the state my decide to have

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -10- March 18, 2004



municipalities do nore in sonme cases. For exanple
the governor is recomrending nunicipalities handle all
of the match for [the Departnent of Transportation and
Public Facilities (DOT&PF)] projects. You know, those
types of things -- obviously there's a sorting out
process that has to happen, because the state and the
municipalities are partners in all of this.

Nunber 1418

REPRESENTATI VE LYNN asked how this would relate to nmintaining
the senior property tax exenption throughout the state.

MR. RITCH E responded that the Al aska Minicipal League's |ong-
hel d position has been that it's a good program which it wants
f unded. He said, "This would be an avenue for pernmanently
funding the senior citizen property tax exenption; you wouldn't
hear fromus again on that."

Nunber 1443

REPRESENTATI VE HOLM asked M. Ritchie if he would consider that
all municipalities have a reason to exist.

MR, RITCH E noted that yesterday, in the House Special Committee
on Ways and Means, the issue was raised that 50 years ago,

before there was revenue sharing, there were still communities
t hroughout Al aska. Many of these are viable conmmunities that
have been in existence for thousands of years. However, 50 to
100 years ago, infant nortality was at an unacceptable rate,

access to doctors was unacceptable, education was not good,
health facilities were basically nonexistent, and electricity
[was not avail able]. "In today's world,” he said, "it's not
fair, and people probably won't accept those sane types of
conditions, even though that's the way it was a hundred years
ago." Wthout the services that are currently avail able, people
in smaller comunities would start noving away to urban areas
and the small comunities would probably coll apse. M. Ritchie
asked, "Can all communities be saved?" He answered no, there's
probably econom c pressures that will make people nove away from
comunities. However, he opined that nany of the snal
comunities that don't have nuch of a tax base but have existed
on the sane site for years are certainly viable and deserve to
exi st .

Nunber 1529

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -11- March 18, 2004



REPRESENTATI VE HOLM pointed out that after the gold rush sone
towns didn't exist any nore. He questioned whether [HB 431]
would artificially extend the Ilength and duration of a
municipality's lifetine.

MR. RITCH E characterized that that as an excellent question.

He said, "This program alone will take a comunity that m ght
have to close out as a municipal governnent, |ower the quality
of life for its citizens, not be able to provide the services

that are required, and [have] that cause people to nove away."
However, if there is a mgjor industry in a comunity, such as a
m ne that closes down, and the only reason the people are there

is for mning, then the people will nbve away because they don't
have jobs, not because the programm ng exists or doesn't exist.
He told Representative Holm "I don't think - in the sense that
you're talking about - that it's going to significantly extend
the lives of conmmunities where their enploynent base noves away.
But , especially in comunities that have ... a viable
subsi stence base, this will allow them to operate a nunicipa

governnent and continue to exist."
REPRESENTATI VE HOLM said he is trying to find the bal ance here.
Nunber 1637

REPRESENTATI VE BERKOW TZ asked if the Al aska Municipal League
has done any analysis regarding what the inpact of [HB 431] on
| ocal property tax or |ocal sales tax rates across the state.

MR. RITCH E answered no, adding there are "so many unknowns out
there." He said this year there are issues regardi ng econom es;
nost of the communities around the state are in trouble as wel

as the fishing, mning, and tinber industries. In addition to
that economc struggle, M. Ritchie listed the followng state
cuts: the proposed elimnation of revenue sharing; nunicipa
capital matching grants; assunption of greater responsibility
for "DOT match"; and a five-percent salary increase nandated by
the state for funding a state retirenent system which nost of

the nmunicipalities are in and cannot avoid. He said, "If this
were to be adopted, | could say wth sonewhat great certainty
that it would ... at least stabilize the increase of taxes, and
in sone cases could either reduce taxes or, again, if this were
to pass it's very possible the state would say, 'Wll, now that
you've got all this noney, we'd |like you to do a few extra
things.'"

REPRESENTATI VE BERKOW TZ st at ed:

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -12- March 18, 2004



This is one of the things that is really intriguing to
me about the notion of a community dividend. And
we're in a transitional period in Alaska's history.
Wen we created the state and when we devised the
system we have now, it was done with the idea that you
needed to do things through Juneau, because nost of
the comunities didn't have the ability to be
sufficient, and that the state would provide a |ot of
t he services and t ake over a | ot of t he
responsibilities.

It seens that we've reached the point where nany of
the communities now are in a position to take care of
thenselves to a greater degree than was possible in

the past - not all the communities, but particularly
the nmajor communities. And that there should be, as
conpani on to this type of | egi sl ati on, sone

investigation as to [which] state services are being
provided could be provided better at the local |evel
And if there's any analysis that's been done on that,
|"d be really interested to see it.

MR RITCHE replied that "we've" actually proposed that study a
nunber of times and would gladly participate with the state in
it. He said "we" feel that on a local level in governnent,
people in conmunities can - without a state program and state
adm nistration - decide what things are really needed to nake
the community better. He stated the reality is that taxes are
not really that |ow around the state. Most of the |larger
comunities are above $1,000 per capita in local tax generation.

MR, RITCH E said forner Governor Walter Hickel would speak to an
i ssue regarding a concept of the PFD that he said the public may
think is "really good." For exanple, when services are needed
at the local level, one possibility is to give people a higher
di vidend. The federal governnment would take a portion of it and
then the rmunicipal governnent would tax, as well. He said, "And
so, by taking the federal governnent out of the tax |oop by
provi ding sone assistance directly to a nmunicipality - which is
not taxed by the governnment and would be a good public purpose -
you've ... given your |ocal taxpayers sort of a tax break from
federal taxes on providing |ocal services." He opined that that
concept is probably pretty viable and sellable to the public.

Nunber 1818

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -13- March 18, 2004



REPRESENTATI VE SEATON noted that the proposed program woul d
provi de basically 38 percent of the budget of the Minicipality
of Anchorage. He asked if that revenue sharing would affect the
muni ci pal tax cap.

MR. RITCH E stated his understanding that the answer to that is
no. He noted that one of the things that has been a significant
problemto a nunber of conmunities with locally inposed tax caps
is that they did not anticipate or count reductions in state
funding. Therefore, when the state takes services away that has
to be replaced, or takes revenue sharing away, there is no
mechanismw thin the tax cap to adjust for that.

Nunmber 1867

JACK SHAY, Menber, Alaska Muinicipal League (AM.) board of
directors, testifying on behalf of AM.,, told the commttee that
the AML represents approximately 60 percent of the organized
municipalities in the state, and probably over 98 percent of the
popul ati on. He adnoni shed the conmttee to listen carefully to
former Governor Walter Hickel, who he said, "planted the seeds
that have resulted in this plan.” M. Shay said [HB 431]
addresses sone inportant elenents. He said the nmunicipalities
are in trouble. He stated that [Version D before the comm ttee]
is sinplified and excellent, because it protects the PFD and
protects the inflation-proofing of the fund in very bad tines,
in case of extrene growh and falling markets.

MR. SHAY said every state gives fiscal aide to cities, towns,
and counties, "and so forth,” and it is a well-recognized
principle of our republic that [Alaska] does this. He
enphasi zed that [AM.] endorses and urges passage of [HB 431].

CHAI R WEYHRAUCH called upon former Governor Walter Hickel to
testify.

Number 2000

WALTER HI CKEL, former Governor of Alaska, testifying on behalf
of hinmself, comended the commttee for working on HB 431. He
of fered his background regarding the issue: M. Hickel said he
came up with "this idea” many years ago and presented it in many
pl aces throughout the state, and "people were really for it."
He expressed that Alaska is a different state with a governnent
structure, rather than the private structure of many of the
Lower 48 states. He indicated his involvenent over 50 years
ago. The resources, he said, were not given to the people

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -14- March 18, 2004



directly, but were given to the future state, so that it could
pay the bills the federal governnent had been payi ng.

MR. HI CKEL said he thinks the state has paid out about $5 or $6
billion in dividends. He opined, "If half of that [had] gone to

the villages and cities ..., we'd probably have the greatest
public system on earth; we'd have the finest schools, the finest
roads, the finest public buildings.” Consequently, he observed,

it isn't the individual's obligation to do a lot of things; it's
the collective obligation, which is why Alaska is called the
"owners' state.” He continued as follows:

| was trying to keep it quite sinple. The divi dend
woul d [have] just Kkept on going, but half of that
dividend would have gone to the area in which the
person |ived, even if it wasn't an organi zed
municipality. And | was thinking that the noney that
went to those villages or those cities, that it would

be -- at least 90 percent of it had to go to capital

because pioneering countries need capital. And once
they get capital, the local econony noves up and does
different things. And so, ... your programis a start

in the right direction, but | think sonehow, sone day,
it should be tied to what the individual gets: [If he
gets] $100 dividend a year, the area in which he lives
gets $50; if he gets $1,000, they get $500. They just
split it, whatever it is. And so, it's just not tied
i nt o sonet hi ng.

Do whatever you want to do. | think the state
supports you. | know the [Al aska] Municipal League

the times | took it to them- even the last tine about
a year ago in Valdez - they voted unaninously for a

communi ty di vi dend.

MR. HI CKEL said he knows a | ot of people say that the governnent
isn't efficient, for exanple, but he reiterated that [in
Al aska], the governnent has an obligation of ownership, and has
a responsibility to do things that other state governnents do
not . He concluded, "I'd Ilike to invite all Al askans to
participate because it's for their benefit." He offered to
answer questions fromthe commttee.

REPRESENTATI VE BERKOW TZ noted his appreciation of M. Hickel's'
presentation of his ideas.

Number 2284

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -15- March 18, 2004



BOB BARTHOLOVEW Chief Operating Oficer, Al aska Permanent Fund
Cor poration, Department of Revenue, in response to a question by
Chair Weyhrauch, explained what "(b) and (c)" refer to [from

page 2, line 10 of HB 431], as follows: "*(b)" is the anount
transferred for the dividend, and '(c)’ is the anount
transferred for inflation-proofing."” He expl ained that half of

the amount available goes to the dividend, while the anount
designated to offset the effects of inflation is transferred
from the earnings reserve to principle. What ever noney is left
in the earnings reserve would be used to "make the transfer
under (e)" [in Section 2 of the bill]. In response to a
guestion from Chair Wyhrauch, he revealed that the cal cul ations
are all based on the financial statenents and are estimted up

until June 30, and it's wusually sone tinme in July that the
accounting records are closed and the final nunbers are
avai |l abl e. The amount of the dividend is announced in
Sept enber .

CHAI R WEYHRAUCH asked what timng would be on the announcenent
of the municipal dividend. He added, "Because you could

cal cul ate backwards, then, and people could figure out the
dividend ...."

MR. BARTHOLOMVEW responded, "Yes, and the Pernmanent Fund usually
announces in July what the anpunt of the transfer to the
Permanent Fund Division wll be. So, we've already nade our
decision in July if you're going to get "x" dollars. They have
to conplete the application process, determ ne how nmany people
are going to be eligible, [and] do the actual mth." In
response to a followup question from Chair Wyhrauch, he
confirmed that it would be July when the nunicipalities would
know "what the actual anmount would be."

CHAI R WEYHRAUCH asked when the transfers would take place.

TAPE 04-38, SIDE B
Nunmber 2358

MR. BARTHOLOVEW indicated it could take place any tine after
"our" agreenent with the Departnent of Revenue, which he said he
thinks is the 20th business day of July.

CHAIR WEYHRAUCH asked if the tine that the transfers under
[ subsections] (b) and (c) take place is defined in statute.

MR. BARTHOLOVEW answer ed no. He explained as follows:

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -16- March 18, 2004



What they'd say is at the end of the year, and we have
taken that to be June 30th. And then, we did just go
through with the attorney general's office |ast year,
to [ask], ... "Wat's a defensible position for us to
take on when we should nake that transfer?” And
that's what led us to adopt that approximately 20th
busi ness day.

CHAIR WEYHRAUCH asked M. Bartholonew, "If we were to adopt
this, there would be no reason to put a date certain as to when
these transfers would occur under the nmunicipal di vi dend
pr ogr anf"

MR. BARTHOLOVEW replied that if there wasn't a date certain

then "we" woul d probably foll ow what has been done regarding the
transfer to the dividend fund. Unless a later date was given,
he added, "we" probably would be ready to nmake the transfer in
| ate July.

CHAIR WEYHRAUCH offered his understanding that if there was a
situation where the nunicipality was facing a dire financial
situation and potenti al bankr upt cy, it wuldn't file an
injunction to get "this noney" in advance, because it would be
distributed in a nornmal course and the state would have to
bridge any fiscal inpact to that nunicipality. He asked if that
was M. Barthol omew s position.

MR. BARTHOLOVEW answered that's right. He said he thinks "we"
have good legal ground to say that, based on how the statutes
are currently witten, "we" have the obligation of the 20th
busi ness day. He said, "I think if you were trying to get it
sooner, we would just say, 'W don't have any authority to nake
that transfer.'"

CHAIR WEYHRAUCH said this is what wuld be called, in a
"fisheries' situation," an al | ocat ed deci si on by t he
| egi sl ature. He stated his assunption that the corporation has
no position on the bill

MVR. BARTHOLOVEW answered that's correct. He said [the
corporation] tries to provide information regardi ng anounts, but
stays neutral in regard to the allocation or use of what's
avai |l abl e.

Nunber 2274

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -17- March 18, 2004



REPRESENTATI VE SEATON noted, "All of our other transfers are
based on the earnings and the success of the fund and this is a
flat $250 per person.” He asked M. Bartholomew if he could
offer any insight regarding whether there would be "any
positives or any negatives to that proposed allocation nethod."

MR. BARTHOLOMEW said he thinks the only difference is that "we"
would have to rely on external sources for determning "that
popul ati on anmount, or whatever the calculation was going to be."
He opined, "As long as it's clearly defined who's responsible to
determ ne population and then help us conme up with a dollar
anmount, | think we can make it work just as well as a formula or
a set dollar anount.”

Nunber 2232

REPRESENTATI VE BERKOW TZ asked if it would be easier, from an
adm ni strative perspective were the state to adopt a percent of
mar ket value (POW), and then, perhaps, through sonme percentage
on that POW, nmake an allocation to the municipalities.

MR. BARTHOLOVEW said the [Alaska Permanent Fund Corporation
Board of Trustees] definitely has recomended its preference to
get away from the current way of accounting for realized incone
and having a volatile paynment streamthat is high sone years and
| ow ot hers. The board recommends that the way all payouts from
the permanent fund are determ ned is changed. He noted that HB
431 uses the current fornula. He said he thinks the board woul d
recommend any distribution plan - to the extent that it can -
work toward adopting a POW approach, and then, through the
| egi sl ative decision-making, decide how the noney is to be
al | ocat ed.

REPRESENTATI VE BERKOW TZ asked what the differences are between
taking a portion fromthe permanent fund and allocating it "this
way," as opposed to, for exanple, taxing that portion back,
whi ch he said he thinks would allow the taxation of nonresident
workers. He clarified as foll ows:

So, here we're tal king about $250 per person. If we
were to allocate the full anmount, tax $250 back per
person, would that have individual tax consequences,
and [if we] have $250 back per Al askan, would that
allow us to tax $250 to nonresident workers?

MR BARTHOLOVEW answer ed he doesn't know.

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 18- March 18, 2004



Nunber 2128
CHAI R WEYHRAUCH turned to Anendnent 1, which read as foll ows:

On page 1, line 11

Bet ween " Anmount of" and "divi dends”
I nsert "nunicipal”

Change "dividends" to "dividend"

Nunber 2114

REPRESENTATI VE GRUENBERG o0bj ect ed. He opined that dividends
should still be plural, because otherwise it would be considered
just one dividend, when it really will be a nunber of dividends

to the various municipalities.

CHAI R WEYHRAUCH asked if there was objection to just inserting
the word "nunicipal"”. There being none, Anmendnent 1 [as
anended] was adopt ed.

Number 2080

CHAI R WEYHRAUCH turned to Anendnent 2, which read as foll ows:

From page 1, line 14
Through page 2, line 1

Del ete "or other population data that, in the judgnent
of the departnent, is reliable"
Insert "that reside in the boundaries of that

muni ci pality”

CHAI R WEYHRAUCH stated his reasons for Anendnent 2: First, he
said he wants the legislature to be specific that "we" rely on
the permanent fund recipient. Second, he said he wants to
specify that those recipients would reside in the boundaries of
the municipality. He opined, "If we're going to address
comunity inpacts and inpacts in [the] municipality, it should
be contingent on the people living there." He noted that al nost
$17 mllion in dividends is sent out of state. He i ndicated
that if people aren't residing in the state, then the
municipalities won't experience the inpact of that resident and
"they should not be increased by that anpunt of noney for that
muni ci pal dividend."

Nunber 2025

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -19- March 18, 2004



REPRESENTATI VE BERKOW TZ suggested that everything after line 12
[on page 1] be del eted.

CHAIR WEYHRAUCH concurred with that suggestion, "because that
does get to the person residing in the nmunicipality.”

Nunber 2001

REPRESENTATI VE  SEATON  nenti oned per manent fund di vi dend
applications and asked, "How does the nexus of ... that other
data set occur?"

REPRESENTATI VE BERKOW TZ said he doesn't think "we" should be
the ones to figure it out. He said if [the legislature] were to
specify in statute how the departnent or division "figures it
out," that mght tie their hands in sone way that could
conceivably be constitutionally inperm ssible. He nentioned
that U S. Census data is available, as well as tax information

He said, "At a basic level, you get down to a certain point and
it's guess work, but in the smaller communities, it's not guess
wor k. | think you can probably just have a pretty straight-
forward know edge of how many people are living there.”

CHAI R WEYHRAUCH proffered that there's a rational basis from
which to draw between a person residing in a nunicipality and
one who does not reside there. He noted that the resident uses
roads, nedical services, schools, and water and sewer. He said,
"You probably could even discrimnate on that basis."”

Nunmber 1928

REPRESENTATI VE  SEATON expressed the need to clarify the
definition of resident.

CHAI R WEYHRAUCH responded that his wuse of the word resident
refers to one who is "domiciled in and living in the community,
using the nmunicipal services and affecting that community
directly.™

Nunmber 1884

REPRESENTATI VE HOLM asked if it is to be anticipated that "al
municipalities wll give us the straight scoop.” He asked if
there woul d be sone specific oversight by the State of Al aska to
make sure that it isn't "getting duped" by certain

muni ci palities.

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 20- March 18, 2004



CHAI R WVEYHRAUCH said, "I would hope there would be.™

REPRESENTATI VE HOLM questioned whether the result would be
anot her audit function. He mentioned the fiscal note.

Nunber 1843

BILL ROLFZEN, State Revenue Sharing, Mnicipal Assistance,
Nat i onal Forest Receipts, Fish Tax, PILT; Juneau Ofice;
Division O Comunity Advocacy; Departnent of Community &
Econom ¢ Devel opnent (DCED), testified as foll ows:

This | anguage was pulled out of our existing statutory
| anguage for the revenue sharing program For the
past, at least, 30 or 40 years now, it's been the
departnment's responsibility to cone up with an annual
muni ci pal popul ati on determ nation. W work closely
with the state denographer and the Departnent of
Labor, who annually conmes up wth the statew de
popul ation for all the comunities, using pernmanent
fund dividend applications. In fact, several years
ago, we had the application amended so that applicants
had to put their physical address on their application
versus their [post office box] or nmiling address.

Annually, we receive ... that data from the state
denographer in the fall. On January 15th, we send out
muni ci pal populations to all the municipalities. They
have until April 1 to appeal that determ nation, based
on a local head count census. W' ve found, over the
| ast few years, based on this <change in the
application, that very few municipalities appeal our
nunbers, because they're very reliable. But we do
allow them that opportunity, but it has to be based on
| ocal counts. And the requirenent is that a resident
has to live in that nunicipality at |east six nonths
out of that cal endar year.

MR. ROLFZEN noted that currently the departnment is in the mddle
of a popul ati on appeal process, which will conclude on April 1.
The nunbers will be certified on June 1.

CHAIR WEYHRAUCH asked M. Rolfzen, "Wen vyou said 'this
| anguage,' what | anguage did you refer to?"

MR. ROLFZEN answered, "Population data that, in the judgnent of
the departnent, is reliable.”

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -21- March 18, 2004



CHAI R WEYHRAUCH asked, "The state already has some experience
with this | anguage and its applicability in the state?"

MR. ROLFZEN answered, "Exactly."
Nunber 1742

CHAI R WVEYHRAUCH suggested adding the word "physically" between
the words "residing"” and "in", on page 1, line 12 of the bill

MR. ROLFZEN responded that that would work for [DCED

CHAIR WEYHRAUCH said, "I'm going to nobve that as [a new
Amendnent 2, to add the word physically."”

REPRESENTATI VE GRUENBERG referred to the original Amendnent 2
[text provided previously] and asked if the conmttee was going
to adopt it.

CHAI R WVEYHRAUCH r esponded, "No, | wthdrew that anendnent."”

Nunber 1729

CHAI R VWEYHRAUCH asked if there was any objection to [the new
Amendnent 2. There being none, [the new] Anmendnent 2 was
adopt ed.

Nunber 1719

REPRESENTATI VE SEATON asked if "with that" there is a full
enough definition of six nonths. He said, "I nean, that's
accepted now, and ... you don't see any problenms if this
definition's here (indisc. - coughing) testifying that in
(indisc. - coughing) leaving that up to determ nation?"

MR. ROLFZEN responded, "That's correct. We have regulations in
pl ace to inplenment popul ation determ nations on an annual basis,
and our requirenent is six nonths out of the year."

Number 1700

CHAI R VEYHRAUCH not ed t he | anguage on page 2, [lines 6-8], which
read:

(c) If the anobunt appropriated is not sufficient
to fully fund nunicipal dividends for a fiscal year,

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -22- March 18, 2004



the amount of each dividend shall be reduced on a pro-
rata basis.

CHAI R VWEYHRAUCH i ntroduced Conceptual Anendnent 3, which would
make the foll owi ng changes:

On page 2, line 6

Bet ween "anount" and "appropriated”

Insert "that woul d be"

Bet ween "appropriated"” and "is"

I nsert "under subsections (a) and (b) of this section”

CHAI R WEYHRAUCH, in response to a question from Representative
Seaton, clarified that (a) and (b) refer to [Section 2] and not
to "the transfers.”

Nunber 1635

CHAI R WEYHRAUCH asked if there was any objection to Conceptual
Amendnent 3. There being none, Conceptual Amendnent 3 was
adopt ed.

Nunber 1628

CHAlI R WEYHRAUCH turned to Anendnent 4, which read as foll ows:

On page 2, line 12
Delete "fully"

CHAI R WEYHRAUCH expl ai ned that the word "fully" may be a matter
of argunent.

Nunmber 1583

CHAI R VEYHRAUCH asked if there was any objection to Amendnent 4.
There bei ng none, Anendnent 4 was adopt ed.

Number 1565
REPRESENTATI VE GRUENBERG asked if it is constitutional for noney
to be transferred fromthe corporation to the departnment w thout

an appropriation.

Number 1512

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -23- March 18, 2004



MR. BARTHOLOVEW answered that he does not believe so. He stated
his belief that all noney renmains in the earnings reserve of the
permanent fund, until appropriated by the |egislature.

REPRESENTATI VE = GRUENBERG suggested that to make "this"
constitutional, the commttee would need to offer an anendnent.
He noted that the |anguage on page 2 | ooks |ike an appropriation
woul d not be required. He asked if |anguage should be added to
say, "Subject to an appropriation for that purpose.”

MR. BARTHOLOVEW replied that the new subsection (e) that is
being added in AS 37.13.145 is in the sanme section that deals
with inflation-proofing and dividends, and those are based on
appropriations that are in the annual operating budget, "or sone

appropriation bill." He said, "I believe by having it within
that subsection, you're going to have it subject to the sane
requirenents, and | think there is AG work stating it wll not

transfer w thout an appropriation.”

REPRESENTATI VE GRUENBERG said he doesn't want to draw a | awsuit;
therefore, he asked M. Bartholonew if it would increase his
confort level or elimnate a possible question if the conmttee
put a technical anmendnent in "to that effect.”

Number 1449

REPRESENTATI VE BERKOWN TZ stated that Section 1 "says it
clearly." He noted that the |anguage in Section 1 specifies,
"Subj ect to appropriations”.

MR. BARTHOLOVEW said, "And that would be in Title 29." I n
response to a conmment by Representative Guenberg, he said,
"Having it stated in Title 29 and then following the |[egal
gui dance we have for 37.13.145, | think you have a clear record
requiring appropriations.”

REPRESENTATI VE GRUENBERG explained that he had thought the
phrase "Subject to appropriations" referred to the second
transfer of noney fromthe departnment to the municipalities.

MR. BARTHOLOVEW in response to a question from Representative
G uenberg, said he is confortable that there wll be good
gui dance.

Nunmber 1354

CHAI R WEYHRAUCH cl osed public testinony.

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 24- March 18, 2004



Number 1342

REPRESENTATI VE CARL MOSES, Al aska State Legislature, as sponsor
of HB 431, stated that this legislation is badly needed by the
comunities in Alaska. He said the health of the state depends

upon the health of communities. He opined that HB 431 is a
politically correct way to use the PFDs. He said, "It's the
people's noney, as far as |'m concerned, and this gives the
noney back to the local |evel where it can be adm nistered and
spent as they see fit." He stated that he thinks this will go a
long way in inproving the quality of life in Al aska. He

encouraged the comrittee to nove [HB 431].

CHAI R WEYHRAUCH said that no matter what happens wth the bill
Representati ve Moses' service to the state is appreciated.

Nunber 1279

REPRESENTATI VE SEATON referred to previous discussion regarding
the $67 mllion that would go to Anchorage, whose current budget
is [roughly] $248 [million]. He said he wanted to correct for
the record that it's 27 percent, not 38 percent.

Number 1260

CHAI R VEYHRAUCH renoved his previous objection to [the origina
bill version].

Nunmber 1248

REPRESENTATI VE GRUENBERG nobved to report HB 431 [as anended,
with individual recomendations and the acconpanying fiscal
not es] . There being no objection, CSHB 431(STA) was reported
out of the House State Affairs Standing Committee.

HB 459- PAPER TRAI L FOR ELECTRONI C VOTI NG MACHI NE

Number 1199

CHAI R WEYHRAUCH announced that the next order of business was
HOUSE BILL NO 459, "An Act requiring an auditable paper trail
for electronic voting machines; and providing for an effective
date."

Nunber 1180

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -25- March 18, 2004



REPRESENTATI VE LES GARA, Al aska State Legislature, as sponsor of
HB 459, stated that the one cross check that the United States
has had for 200 years is that, after sonebody votes, there is a
paper record of how that person voted. He said that nachines
are now being used - the State of Alaska having recently
purchased 55 of them - that |eave no paper record of votes. He
called it a radical departure from anything the state has ever
done. He enphasized the inportance of having a paper record.
Representative Gara reported that in Al aska, nmany el ections have
been cl ose.

REPRESENTATI VE GARA offered an exanple of an election where a
candidate |l ost by 16 percent of the vote and soneone asked for a
recount, but the Division of Elections said no. The reason the
recount couldn't be nmade was because there was no avail able

paper trail. At that point, he explained, the only way to tell
whet her the vote was accurate would be to check the conputer
code that was used to calculate and tally the vote. However,

across the country, when people ask to look at the conputer
code, they are being told by the conputer conpanies that the
code is a trade secret. The outcone is that the [true] result
[of the election] is never known.

REPRESENTATI VE GARA stated that these [voting] machines are
needed for people with certain handi caps. He said HB 459 w |
require that when Alaska starts using the nachines, those
machi nes nust produce a paper trail. He noted that in
California, that requirenment is going to go into effect in 2005.
He said the Division of Elections in Alaska reports that the
technol ogy to make the new machi nes produce a paper trail wll
be avail abl e by "the 2006 el ection.”

Nunber 1048
CHAI R WEYHRAUCH opened public testinony.
Nunber 1000

WLLIAM COLE, MD., testifying on behalf of hinself, opined that
a reliable voting system is essential to a denocratic process.

Furthernore, confidence in the system is also essential. He
noted that many have cited that electronic systens have been
easily hacked into and outcones have been changed. Dr. Cole

related an article in The New York Tinmes, dated January 31,
2004, which reported that the State of Mryland contracted with
a conputer security firm to check out a [voting] system and

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 26- March 18, 2004



"they" easily were able to hack into the machi ne, change votes,
and "take over the process.™

Nunmber 0952

DR. COLE stated that obviously this issue is nonpartisan.
Notwi t hstanding that, he said it didn't aide his confidence in
the system when he heard that the manufacturer nanmed D ebold
[El ection Systens ("D ebold')] said that the Maryland security
study validates the Diebold election systens equipnment for the
north's primry. He added that it also didn't help that the
head of the conpany has been "quoted to be able to deliver Chio
to the current sitting President in the next election.”

DR. COLE stated he would support the basic aspects of [HB 459],
that any system nmust have a physically verifiable paper trail -
verifiable by the voter at the tinme of the vote and later at a

recount. He stated his belief that a public process, "such as
this,” should have access to the proprietary software involved
in the machines proposed by the private conpanies. He said he
thinks a generous recount requirenent "is involved." He
remarked that it does no good to have a paper trail if it
prohibits having a count to a nere 1 percent difference. Dr.

Cole also stated his belief that this issue is so inportant that
it must go into effect immediately as opposed to sone date in
the future.

Nunmber 0869

DR. COLE concluded that he has been proud of the system that
Al aska has had [to date], and he said he feels that helping
handi capped [voters] would certainly not be insurnountable with
the present system

Nunmber 0851

CHAI R VEYHRAUCH asked Dr. Cole if he has any know edge in regard
to the current accessibility to voting avail able to handi capped
i ndi vi dual s.

DR. COLE answered he doesn't. He added, "It's yet to be shown
to nme how you <could use the electronic system wthout
assi stance. "

Nunber 0821

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -27- March 18, 2004



MARI LYN RUSSELL, testifying on behalf of herself, stated that
her goal is to see that Al aska's voting system is conpetent and
reliable, as well as admred and respected, and that it nmaintain
that reputation. She said when many Americans think of Al aska,

they think of a beautiful, unique frontier wth indigenous
people - [a place where people are] independent and think
outside the box. Ms. Russell encouraged setting up the voting

machi nes from the beginning to be accurate and dependabl e. She
stated that there should be no chance of possible wong-doing:
no software glitch, no system hacker, no possible fraud, and not
even the least bit of doubt in a voter's mnd that his/her vote
m ght be skewed.

MS5. RUSSELL said she has done sonme homework and found that even
t hough systens have been checked out by many independent peopl e,
the ultimate results of the votes have been dubi ous. She said,
"If there were ever a problem 1 cringe to think of the anpunt
of time, effort, anguish, and noney that would be needed to fix
the problem I|et alone the credibility that would cause havoc.
W want to have a paper trail for these machines. CQur state is
on the way up; let's not mar its progress.”

Nunber 0722

REPRESENTATI VE HOLM t hanked Ms. Russell for her testinony.

Nunber 0702

SANDRA ZI RNHELD, testifying on behalf of herself, stated that
while there are many assurances from manufacturers that their

software works, she would cite five exanples out of many recent
mal functions. She continued as foll ows:

[In] Broward County, Florida, this January, in a
single race election, there was only one thing to mark
on the ballot. A hundred and thirty four ballots
regi stered no vote. The wi nner won by only 12 votes
and, although Florida law requires a recount, a
recount was not possible because there was no paper
trail

[In] Fairfax County, Virginia, Novenber 2003, a
republi can school board nenber |ost her at-large seat
in a tight race. Vot er conplaints about suspicious
behavior of machines |led to the testing of sone
machi nes, which showed that one suspect nachine

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 28- March 18, 2004



subtracted a vote from this candidate in about one of
every hundred tries.

[In] Mam, Dade County, Florida, Novenber 2002,
several precincts - each wth hundreds of voters
registered - tallied no votes cast.

[In] Boone County, Indiana, Novenmber 2003, in a
district with only 19,000 eligible voters, of which
only 5,352 voted, the tally canme up wth 140,000
vot es.

[In] Muscogee County, [Georgia], Novenber 4, 20083,
citizens who voted no on a referendum issue saw the
machi ne register yes. Oficials ended up having to
take this machi ne out of service.

MS. ZIRNHELD stated that this is egregious, and she said she
wants to make certain that nothing |ike this happens in Al aska.
She encouraged the conmttee to |look at a June 2003 report by
conputer security researchers from Johns Hopkins and Rice
Universities, that showed that the software on the Diebold
machine |acked even the nost basic of conputer security

[capabilities]. She indicated that undergraduates in a conputer
security class would have failed if they had witten that code.
She called it, "blatantly inept." She revealed that it scares

her that machines are so easily prone to fraud and mani pul ati on.

Nunmber 0506

M5. ZIRNHELD stated that this issue is not and should not be a
parti san one. She stated that it is about the fundanental
princi pal which wunderlies denocracy; it's about ensuring the
fact that individuals elect the people who serve in governing
posi tions. Those officials are put there by the wll of the
peopl e, not by random nunber generators. She indicated her
support of the bill, and opined that it should be strengthened

with a provision which requires a mandatory spot check on
precincts.

M5. ZIRNHELD, in addition to her forgone exanples, indicated
that there are many exanples where many people voting machines
have mal functioned and voting officials had to inprovise by
asking people to wite their votes on slips of paper. She
stated she wants the upcom ng Senate seat filled by the vote of
t he people, not by faulty nachines.

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -29- March 18, 2004



Nunber 0425

REPRESENTATI VE GRUENBERG told Ms. Zirnheld that her testinony is
causing him to wonder about whether the [electronic voting]
systens should be inplenmented wthout being thoroughly checked
out .

MS. ZIRNHELD responded that all the machines have been checked
out . She noted that it is scary, because it is the
manuf acturers that are checking them out and giving assurances
[that the machines are in working order].

REPRESENTATI VE GRUENBERG said that is what is frightening to
hi m

Number 0325

REPRESENTATI VE LYNN asked Ms. Zirnheld to clarify whether or not
t he machi nes are checked out by a third "uninterested" party.

M5. ZIRNHELD offered her "inpression”™ that the manufacturers
check out the code, while independent parties "have done other

kinds of testing." She added, "There have been ot her people who
have been testing, ... which has proved that there's
problens with these nachines.” She offered to do research to

further answer Representative Lynn's question.
Number 0233

REPRESENTATI VE GARA, on the sane note, said California, for
exanple, requires that only approved software be used on its
machi nes. After making that requirenent, the state did an audit
and found out that in 17 counties the approved software was not
being used. He described the situation as a regulatory
nightmare, where it iIs necessary to have state conputer
consultants spend their tinme to ensure that each of the machines
is working properly. He said, "W know that that is also an
area that can be fraught with error like it was in California."

Number 0155

LUKE HOPKINS, testifying on behalf of hinself, encouraged the
committee to nove [HB 459] out of commttee, which he said wll
al l ow Al aska's excellent voting system to continue to have the
i nportant paper docunentation that it has currently. He stated
that Al aska's system of vote recording is one of the best in the
nati on. He said the state has developed the system at great

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 30- March 18, 2004



expense and should continue to maintain its system of electronic
counting, transmtting data, and providing a paper record for
each vote.

MR. HOPKINS noted that there have been extrenmely inportant
recounts in Al aska. He indicated the inportance of ensuring
that all parties are able to oversee a recount that has accurate
and valid information. He opined that the added cost to the
State of Alaska and, possibly, to the Division of Elections to
ensure that there is a paper trail is small, conpared to what
the state has already spent in developing the AccuVote system
that it has [acquired].

TAPE 04-39, SIDE A

Nunber 0001

DORIS PFALMER, testifying on behalf of herself, opined, "In a
time when electronic wzardry 1is comonpl ace, it's
inperative that we have a receipt ... and a paper trail system
for these nachines.” She stated that nmany people have cited
reasons to [pass HB 459] and she cannot think of any reason "why
it wouldn't automatically be put in place.” She said it seens
to be a "no-brainer." She said [the public] has seen "what they

can do with novies" and "just about anything electronically.”
She concl uded, "Paper rules, to ne."

Number 0147

JENNI FER RUDI NGER, Executive Director, Alaska Cvil Liberties
Union (AkCLU), told the conmttee that AkCLU net recently and

spent a great deal of tinme deliberating this issue. She said
electronic voting and "direct recording equipnment” are new
t echnol ogi es. She said, "W are very wary of sonme of the

concerns you' ve already [heard] from fol ks who've testified, as
well as sone of the actual problens that canme up on 'super
Tuesday' and in previous elections where these nachines were
i npl enented.” She indicated that she would offer sone points on
behal f of "a unani nous board of directors.”

M5. RUDINGER stated that in 2002, Alaska was recognized as
nunber one in the nation for the best electoral system She
said that begs the question, "If it ain't broke, why are we in
such a big hurry to fix it?" She said [AkKkCLU shares the
concerns of Representative Guenberg and others, who have
suggested that perhaps the machines should not be used until
nore testing is done, better security is in place, and it is
certain that wusing the mchines wll not conpromse the

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -31- March 18, 2004



integrity of the state's elections. She stated that the
integrity of the voting process is fundanental to the operation

of the denobcracy. She said a mmjor conponent of a wvalid
el ectoral process is voting technology that honestly and
accurately counts every single ballot. She opined, "Because

voting technol ogi es have al ways been susceptible to error, bias,
and corruption, we nust remain vigilant about new technol ogies
and insist that before they're inplenented, they naximze the
| i kel i hood of recording what each voter intends, regardless of
the voter's race, econonm c status, or geographic |ocation."

M5. RUDINGER said [the state] nust require that voting nachines
be accessible to all vot ers, by reducing  barriers to
participation erected by |anguage, physical disability, or the
conplexity of the technol ogy. She enphasi zed the inportance of
protecting the confidence of the public in the results of
el ections, by ensuring that voting technologies nay not be

rigged in a way that would thwart the true wll of the
el ectorate. She said [AkCLU recognizes that touch-screen
voting systens do offer trenmendous potential advantages. She

noted that, as Representative Gara had previously indicated,
el ectronic voting is helpful to people with disabilities who

can't operate a manual |ever. Furthernore, for people wth
visual inpairment, there are cards that can be inserted into the
machines that will read the ballot to the voter

Number 0415

M5. RUDINGER noted that the ballots can be made available in
ot her | anguages, which she said could be hel pful to sone of the
elders in the Native villages of Al aska, whose | anguages are not
even witten. Conversely, she noted that an Alaska Native on
[the AKCLU s] board of directors raised the point that there is
not a famliarity with technology and "these conputers” in many
of the villages, and people m ght be nore wary of going to vote,
even if the machine is pronoted as giving the ballot to the
voter in his/her |anguage.

M5. RUDI NGER pointed out that the existing statutes nake using
the machine optional; therefore, the state could hold off from
their use to do further testing. Not wi t hstanding that, she
stated that if the legislature sees fit to authorize "going
ahead with these machines" and the D vision of Elections sees
fit to use the nachines in 2004, then [AKCLU cautiously
endorses HB 459. She said [AKCLU recognizes that HB 459 nay
hel p people feel better about the integrity of the process by
giving the voters the opportunity to verify that what prints out

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -32- March 18, 2004



of the machine is the intended vote. However, she stated that
voter-verified paper balloting is also untested. She reveal ed
that conputer experts have pointed out that "we may find out
voter-verified paper balloting doesn't ensure the integrity of
the election at all.”™ She said [AKCLU has serious reservations
regarding both the effectiveness and the practicality of the
pr oposal .

Nunmber 0561
MS. RUDI NGER conti nued as foll ows:

El ections would resort to using a voter-verified paper
trail only in the case of a recount or a contest,
which a hacker can prevent or deter. In nost
jurisdictions, recounts are triggered only when an
el ection is close. So, anyone who is savvy enough to
hack into a digital system and alter the election
results could sinply select a margin of victory big
enough to prevent a recount or discourage a contest.
And, in these jurisdictions, a conpetent hacker could
bl ock the review of any paper ballot.

M5. RUDINGER noted that even in those few jurisdictions that
automatically do a recount of a snmall percentage of ballots as a
test, a sophisticated fraud could thwart detection by corrupting
the code for the paper printout. She said that brings her to
her second point:

The voter-verified paper trail could be used by a
sophi sticated hacker to give voters a false sense of
security that their vote was correctly tallied. | f

the conputer code is genuinely vulnerable to attack, a
conpetent hacker could not only conpromse it to nake
the machined record a fraudulently vote, but could
also conpronise the <code that runs the printer
causing the printer to display the voter's intent,
while the machine records sonething different than
what the voter intended.

M5. RUDI NGER al so pointed out that there's no reason to assune
that paper recounts are nore accurate than machi ne tabul ations.
Paper is notoriously difficult to handle and easy to nanipul ate.
Counting the paper ballots generated by [machine] would be
subject to all of the historical problens associated wth paper
bal l ots, including human error, fraud, and m shandli ng.

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 33- March 18, 2004



Nunber 0672

M5. RUDI NGER stated that [AKCLU believes that voter-verified

paper ballots should not be enployed until there has been
rigorous testing of their reliability. She added that it also
feels that way about the electronic voting nachines. She

suggested that two years from now, everyone mght realize that
[HB 459] did not protect the election [process] at all.

Nunmber 0700
M5. RUDI NGER of f ered recomendati ons as foll ows:

If DREs [Direct Recording Electronic voting nachines]
are to be enployed ... in 2004, ... the conputer
source code for all security critical functions of the
machi nes should be subjected to thorough, independent
revi ew. And when we say independent review, we
definitely nmean not people who are selected ... by the
manuf acturers of the machines. ... At a mninum the
full code should be subjected to a review by an
i ndependent body, and only open source codes
shoul d be used for tabulating the results.

Nunber two, rigorous physical security neasures need
to be instituted to ensure that the nachines and any

associ ated paper ballots are not conproni sed. Third,
el ection officials need to be thoroughly trained in
their use, - [as well as inj] the physi cal
infrastructure necessary to ensure their use. For
exanple, sufficient electrical wring needs to be
"assured."” This could be challenging in sone parts of
rural Al aska  where t he infrastructure doesn't

currently exist to inplenent these machines.

Fourth, the jurisdiction should have a pernmanent,
broad base security task force or oversight body
representing all interested segnents of the comrunity,
to evaluate the potential for fraud or error in voting
systens, and to address the new security challenges

that will inevitably arrive in the future. That task
force should have conplete unrestricted access to the
DRE code, and [it] should conduct [its] own

i ndependent testing.

Fifth, election officials should select technol ogy
t hat gives them maximum flexibility in taking

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 34- March 18, 2004



advantage of energing innovation. In other words,
what ever we buy today should be adaptable to what we
decide we really need to do tonorrow to ensure the

integrity of the election. If a jurisdiction chooses
to enploy optical scan or a nethod other than DREs for
its balloting, it should be required to have a

sufficient nunber of electronic DRE nmachi nes avail able
to accommopdate the needs of people with disabilities -
because we do recognize that that needs to happen -
and they should enploy systens that can accommobdate
t he needs of |anguage mnorities.

Number 0564

CHAIR WEYHRAUCH asked M. Rudinger if she would submt the
remai nder of her testinony in witing.

M5. RUDI NGER explained that she was reading "from a white
paper,” but she offered to create a summary of what her
testinmony and send it to the commttee.

Number 0897

JOHN DUNKER, testifying on behalf of hinself, stated he supports
[ HB 459]; however, he admtted that sone of the testinony gives
hi m pause about "enploying it rapidly.” He said he had hoped it
woul d have an inmediate effect and that m ght prevent the next
el ection cycle from being the only one in "our"™ history wthout

a paper trail. He added, "And | think that is still a good
thing."
MR. DUNKER said he would like to see the bill strengthened to

i nclude mandatory testing, "simlar to what [the] D vision of
El ecti ons has described in response to your 9 March questions.”
He nentioned performng on the AccuVote process. He indicated
that he wants mandatory testing and random recounts, either by
district or precinct. He said, "I believe those should not
hinge on a percentage difference of vote outcones, which nmay
make sense in a paper voting system But | think it's evident
that that sort of a percentage difference threshold does not
make sense with el ectronic voting."

MR. DUNKER concluded by saying that the process isn't good
enough if it only satisfies technocrats. He said [the process]
must maintain the confidence of every citizen

Number 1023

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 35- March 18, 2004



REPRESENTATI VE GRUENBERG reiterated that he is concerned about
i npl enenting this system at all until these problens are
addr essed.

Nunber 1049

CHAIR WEYHRAUCH told Representative Guenberg that he would
eventually be offering quite a substantial anendnent to the
bill.

[ HB 459 was heard and hel d. ]

Nunber 1181

CHAI R WVEYHRAUCH invited Tony Ml acas and his son, Josel Carillo
to conme before the conmttee. He noted that M. Carillo had
recently returned from the war in Iraq, where he was wounded,
and that he had been awarded the Purple Heart. He asked M.
Carillo if there was anything he wi shed to say.

Nunber 1200

MR. CARILLO said, "It's great to be back."

CHAI R WEYHRAUCH enphasi zed that it is great to have M. Carillo
back ali ve.

ADJ OQURNVENT
There being no further business before the commttee, the House

State Affairs Standing Committee neeting was adjourned at 9:59
a. m

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 36- March 18, 2004



